COVENTRY

Borough in the County of West Midlands

HISTORY

It is well known that the Freemen of Coventry own valuable estates in the City; but to   understand how this came about it is necessary to look back into the history of Coventry, because the origin of these Estates is in the Rights of the Freemen of former times over the lands which are the common fields of the ancient Anglo-Saxon community.

The beginnings of the City are somewhat obscure, but it is clear that there was an Anglo-Saxon village here.    It advanced with the establishment of a convent and subsequently with the foundation of a very large Benedictine Abby in 1043 by Earl Leofric of Mercia and his Countess Godiva.     By the end of the fourteenth century it ranked next to     London and Bristol among the chief towns of the kingdom

Despite the growth of the City, the rights of the free citizens in the common fields were not allowed  to lapse;  because the mediaeval town dweller was also a farmer, and the right to turn out animals to graze was valuable to him.    In the course of time however the fields changed their names.   Some remained as commons ( Hearsall Common,  Whitley Common...etc ), while others became known as Lammas Lands and Michaelmas Lands, according to the Quarter Days upon which each year owners were under obligation to make them available for common pastorage.    Also in the course of time the rights themselves and those who were entitled to exercise them became more closely  defined both by custom and by orders of the Court Leet ( the then local court ); and from at least the time of Queen Elizabeth 1 it was established that the rights were vested in the Freemen.    These were the men who, as Members of the Merchant and Craft Guilds, were free to trade and exercise their crafts and callings in the City; and also in             consequence were the citizens upon whom devolved the financial and other obligations of the community.    It also became established that a man became a Freeman by     service of apprenticeship in the City, with subsequent admission to the appropriate Guild and the taking of an Oath  before the Mayor as a Freeman and Citizen.

Freemen of today will know that the Oath which they themselves took on admission, as a Freeman and Citizen, still imposes not only a duty of loyalty to the City but an obligation to contribute a proper share towards the assessments and charges of the City.    Thus the Freemen of today are the direct successors of the Members of the ancient Guilds.

By the latter part of the eighteenth century and the early part of the nineteenth century, the existence of the commons and the Lammas and Michaelmas Lands became an    embarrassment.   Only a small proportion of the Freemen possessed animals for which they desired pasture; and the existence all around the City of vast areas of land upon which it was impossible to build gravely hampered development.    The Freemen realised that it would be to their advantage to compromise with the owners of the lands over which they had rights of pasturage.    Agreement was not reached because the owners wished to buy-out the rights for a money payment, while the Freemen wished ( wisely as events proved) to be compensated with land.     The consequence was that the first move towards enclosure and the use of the lands for the purposes other than agriculture came as a result of the development of turn-pike roads and railways.    After some argument it was decided that the Freemen were entitled to some of the money paid for land         compulsorily acquired for those purposes.   This money was used to establish the Freemen’s Seniority Fund, and Trustees were appointed to administer it.   The income from the Seniority Fund, after deduction of the necessary expenses, was paid to the most aged Freemen according to their seniority of admission to the Freedom.   This seniority principal, adopted in 1843, was always supported thereby avoiding either patronage or the begging of a benefit of a favour either on religious or political grounds.

Afterwards the fund was enlarged by compensation received in respect of land acquired for the Nuneaton Railway,  St.Thomas’s Church ( now demolished) and the upper       reservoir of the Coventry Waterworks.   The Freemen also received certain monies by reason of the acquisition of land by the local authority for the Coventry cemetery.   The income from this has been used for maintaining the payments made out of the         Freemen’s Seniority Fund.

Subsequently the question of enclosure was tackled in a more far reaching way.   In April 1858 the Inclosure Commissioners certified that “ Each and every Freeman of the City of Coventry is entitled to the right of common of pasturage and every widow of a Freeman so long as she remains a widow has a right of common pasturage”.

The Freemen were of the opinion that they should have one-third of the Lammas Lands and one-fourth of the Michaelmas Lands as a fair equivalent for their right of pasturage over these lands.   Eventually in 1860 an Inclosure Award was made by the Incosure Commissioners whereby seven-twenty-fourths of the Lammas Lands and one-fifth of the Michaelmas Lands comprising of 272 acres 2 roods and 13 perches were allotted to the Freemen in exchange for their rights of pasturage.   This Award known as the “Number 1” Inclosure Award ( or the 1860 Award) laid down:

a)
The number of Trustees necessary to form a Management Board together with the 
procedures to be taken for appointing new Trustees, all of whom were to be   
Freemen.

b)
The rules as to to appointment of officers.

c)
The powers vested in the Trustees to let any portions of the estate from year to year            
to grant building leases for any term but not exceeding 99 years and to let land to be 
occupied as garden ground.

Immediately after the Award had been made some portions of the lands were fenced off and let for grazing perposes and other portions as gardens.   Further parts were let on building leases for terms of 99 years.

A further Award known as the “Number 2” Inclosure Award ( or the 1875 Award) concerning a smaller area of land and provided for similar conditions as the 1860 Award.

For a number of years the Trustees had realised that both the 1860 and 1875 Awards were in the main similar to each other with consequent overlapping in administration,   producing high costs.   After much discussion, the Trustees agreed to merge the two Awards and approached the Charity Commissioners to agree to a new unified scheme.   This they did and in 1978 the Coventry Freemen’s Charity was established.   This new scheme completely  superceded the earlier Awards.     Part of the provision was that  subject to the payment of “ Expenses of Management”, the Trustees shall apply the income of the Charity in paying pensions and for the relief in need for needy Freemen of the City  of Coventry and their dependants, and the widows and widowers of a deceased Freeman who are resident within the boundary of the said City or within the radius of seven miles from St. Mary’s Hall.

Consequently for many years the Freemen’s Estates have provided, at regular intervals through the year, payments to those referred to in the Commissioners’ Award.   In this   respect. applications are made to the Coventry Freemen’s charity as indicated in “The Guildsman”, the official bulletin of the City of Coventry Freemen’s Guild.

Under the rules of the Coventry Freemen’s Charity, the Trustees, who elect their own Chairman, meet some six times a year to administer the affairs of the Charity.

The Trustees have had many problems to meet during the last few years, not the least those arising from the Leasehold Reform Act, which enabled many occupiers to purchase the freehold interest in the property they occupy from the Charity.   The reconstruction of the City has resulted in much property formerly belonging to the Freemen being acquired compulsorily by the Local Authority.    However the Trustees have taken the opportunity to broaden the investment base by increasing the size and scope of its other investments.
The Freemen of the City generally can expect, with every confidence, that the Trustees of the Charity will continue to manage the estates and affairs of the Coventry Freemen’s Charity in a manner that will greatly benefit them.

